
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Commercial Revenue 
Committee

Agenda
Friday 31 May 2019 

11.00 am
Committee Room 2 - Hammersmith Town Hall

MEMBERSHIP

Administration:
Councillor Max Schmid
Councillor Adam Connell

CONTACT OFFICER: Kayode Adewumi, Head of Governance and Scrutiny
Committee Co-ordinator
Governance and Scrutiny
: 020 8753 2499
E-mail: Kayode.Adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk

Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy

Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building.

Date Issued: 22 May 2019

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy/Committee_reports_minutes_and_agendas/Current_Committees/Homepage.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy/Committee_reports_minutes_and_agendas/Current_Committees/Homepage.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy/Committee_reports_minutes_and_agendas/Current_Committees/Homepage.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Commercial Revenue Committee
Agenda
31 May 2019

Item Pages

1.  APPOINTMENT OF A CHAIR 
To appoint a Chair for the 2019/20 municipal year.

2.  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 1 APRIL 2019 4
To approve as an accurate record, and the Chair to sign the minutes of 
the meeting held on 1 April 2019. 

3.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent.

At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken. 

Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 

Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.  

5.  COMMERCIAL REVENUE INCOME - GRANT OF SHORT TERM 
LEASE TO FULHAM STADIUM LTD FOR TEMPORARY 
CONTRACTORS' COMPOUND ON BISHOP'S PARK SW6 

5 - 53

This report has two appendices which contain information exempt within 
the meaning of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act1972 and are 



not for publication. The appendices have therefore been circulated to 
Cabinet Members only.

Any discussions on the contents of an exempt appendix will require 
Committee to pass the proposed resolution identified at the end of the 
agenda to exclude members of the public and the press from the 
proceedings for that discussion.

6.  FUTURE DATES OF MEETINGS 
The following dates have been approved for the new municipal year:

Monday 10 June 2019
Monday 25 November 2019
Monday 16 March 2020

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Proposed resolution:

Under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, that the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting during the consideration 
of the following items of business, on the grounds that they contain the 
likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the said Act, and that the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption currently outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.       



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

. London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham
Commercial Revenue 

Committee
Minutes

Monday 1 April 2019

PRESENT

Councillor Max Schmid (Chair)
Councillor Ben Coleman

1. APPOINTMENT OF A CHAIR 

RESOLVED: -

That Councillor Max Schmid be appointed as the Chair for the 2018-19 
municipal year.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

4. OLD OAK HOUSING ASSOCIATION – AGREEMENT TO DEED OF 
TERMINATION OF INDEPENDENCE AGREEMENT 

RESOLVED: -

To approve the signing of a Deed of Termination of Independence agreement 
to allow the Old Oak Housing Association Ltd management company to be 
wound up.

Meeting started: 7.10 pm
Meeting ended: 7.20 pm

Chair

Contact officer:
Kayode Adewumi
Head of Governance and Scrutiny 
Governance and Scrutiny
: 020 8753 2499
E-mail: Kayode.Adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



1

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham

Commercial Revenue Committee

31 May 2019 

COMMERCIAL REVENUE INCOME - GRANT OF SHORT-TERM LEASE TO 
FULHAM STADIUM LTD FOR TEMPORARY CONTRACTORS’ COMPOUND ON 
BISHOP’S PARK SW6

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services – 
Councillor Max Schmid 

Open Report with an Exempt Report (comprising Appendices 1 & 2)

Appendices 1 and 2 are exempt from disclosure on the grounds that they contain 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of a particular person 
(including the authority holding that information) under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972, and in all the circumstances of the case, the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information.

Classification - For Decision 

Key Decision: No

Consultation
Residents’ Services, Equalities, Legal, Finance, Business, Commercial, IT, 
Risk

Wards Affected: Palace Riverside 

Accountable Director: 

 Jo Rowlands, Strategic Director of The Economy

Report Author:  Head of Asset 
Strategy and Portfolio Management

Contact Details: Tel: 020 8753 2835
E-mail: nigel.brown@lbhf.gov.uk 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. This report seeks approval to grant property lease agreements for a temporary 
contractor’s compound within Bishops Park, and to enter a deed with the 
Church Commissioners for England for the temporary release of covenants on 
the land. These agreements are required as part of Fulham Football Club (FFC) 
development within the Craven Cottage stadium.
   

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



2

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Commercial Revenue Committee:

2.1. Agrees that the Council enters a lease with Fulham Football Club, which is 
required to facilitate the delivery of the Craven Cottage stadium redevelopment.

2.2. Agrees that the Council enters a Deed with the Church Commissioners for 
England for the temporary release of covenants on the land, which is required 
to enable the Fulham Football Club modernisation project to proceed

2.3. Agrees to delegate authority to the Strategic Director - The Economy in 
consultation with Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services and 
the Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services to finalise all property 
agreements required on Council land at Bishop Park to enable the Fulham 
Football Club modernisation project to proceed, and in order to give effect to 
the decision in 2.1 above.  

3. REASONS FOR DECISION

3.1. The recommendations allow the Council to grant a lease to FFC and to enter 
into a deed with the Church Commissioners for England FFC. This will enable 
FFC to implement their planning permission for the stadium’s redevelopment 
(planning reference 2017/04662/FUL). The planning permission also included 
the construction of a temporary compound within Council owned land at 
Bishops Park. 

3.2. The development of Craven Cottage will provide provision of a new riverside 
walk alongside the river adjoining the public park.  FFC will be able to maintain 
use of the stadium for home fixtures during the stadium redevelopment timeline.

 
3.3. A decision is required as the proposed income is above delegated authority 

limits for property transactions and the commercial deal provides additional 
income for time limited period.

4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES

4.1. The proposal is for the Council to grant a lease of land within Bishop’s Park, 
and adjoining FFC’s stadium Craven Cottage. 

4.2. The Council will also need to enter a deed with the Church Commissioners to 
allow FFC for the temporary release of covenants on the park (that protect its 
use for public recreation). 

4.3. The Council has completed the public notification procedure of s123 (2A) of the 
Local Government Act 1972, regulating this public open space, and which is 
required before the lease can be entered into. The land that would be leased is 
shown outlined in red on the plan included in the s123 notice attached as 
Appendix 3.

Page 6



3

4.4. The Council, in its capacity as the local planning authority, granted planning 
permission to FFC on 10 December 2018 for the development of a new 
Riverside Stand and other stadium works (the application reference is 
2017/04662/FUL). The Council also completed a ‘s106’ agreement with FFC to 
ameliorate and further regulate the development works, including the 
construction compound. The terms of the lease for the compound fall outside 
the section 106 agreement.

4.5. The planning permission includes conditions for regulating tree pruning or tree 
removal work and for protecting other trees. For the construction compound, 
tree works, and other soft landscaping works plus some hard-landscaping 
works, will also be specified and regulated under a schedule of preparatory 
works to be agreed between the Council and FFC for appending to the Lease.     

4.6. The s106 agreement requires FFC to submit to the Council a Scheme of 
Mitigation for restoring the parkland after the removal of the construction 
compound. The Council must approve this scheme before the construction 
compound can be erected and this has now been submitted.

4.7. The lease will also require satisfactory remediation of parkland affected by the 
construction compound, by agreeing a specification of works or and by 
reference to a schedule of existing condition of parkland that would be affected 
by the compound.

4.8. The permitted hours for the construction compound would be the hours of 
8:00am to 18:00pm Monday to Friday and 8:00am to 13:00pm on Saturdays 
(any other times including Sundays and public and bank holidays are excluded), 
together with any exceptional hours as are first approved by the Council in 
writing.

4.9. Traffic to and from the compound site would be subject to a traffic management 
plan required under the planning permission. Utility services for the compound 
site would come from FFC’s adjoining stadium site.

4.10. All external artificial lighting for the compound site is subject to the Council’s 
prior approval.

4.11. The construction compound would be made secure with hoarding (in a colour 
to be approved by the Council) to restrict access only for authorised staff. 

4.12. The Council will be receiving the following income under the terms of the lease:

 A rent of £164,000 per annum (up to 3 years) for the core compound area.
 An additional increment rent of £55,000 per annum if Fulham Football Club 

seek an over sail agreement, if a temporary stand within the stadium needs 
to be installed. 

 A further rent of £14,000 per annum if a first aid room is set up with the 
compound area. 

Page 7



4

 A further one-off payment of £150,000 on lease completion and this is for 
the Council to undertake works/ improvements within Bishop’s Park. The 
works/improvements will be undertaken by the Council and its contractors.

4.13. On completion of the development works at the stadium, FFC will reinstate the 
park land affected by the construction compound. This will be in accordance 
with a remediation programme to be agreed by the Council (and the Church 
Commissioners) at the club’s cost. This obligation on FFC will be detailed in the 
Lease. It is estimated the total cost of this reinstatement of Bishops Park could 
be up to £150,000. The Council has secured a £100,000 deposit for this 
obligation. The deposit will be returned once FFC have completed the 
reinstatement works to Bishops Park.

5. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS 

5.1. Option 1 – The Council agrees a 3-year lease between the Council and FFC 
(of land at Bishop’s Park) for a temporary construction compound. This would 
enable the planning permission to be implemented.

This option would be mitigated by the above-described financial compensation 
for the Council and it would considerably assist FFC in its stadium development 
for the above- described reasons. This option also supports FFC’s preferred 
option for Craven Cottage to remain the club’s home ground during the 
development works.    

5.2. Option 2 –  The Council does not allow FFC to take a lease for the compound 
within the park. This option would reduce the impact on Bishop’s Park but would 
require variation of the planning permission for a location of a compound to be 
secured and significant distribution to the stadium during home games. 
However, this outcome would limit the limited disruption to a small part of public 
open space. This proposal would also mean the current planning permission 
could not be implemented. This option is not preferred.

5.3. Option 1 is the recommended option to continue the Council’s support for FFC, 
having taken account of the above considerations. Planning permission has 
been granted with planning conditions and section 106 agreement that been 
agreed for the compound as outlined in Option 1.

6. CONSULTATION

6.1. The Council has issued a statutory public notification under section 123 in the 
local Gazette newspaper outlining the proposed lease for a compound within 
the park. The public notification commenced on 22 March 2019 with comments 
being collated by Council’s parks and communication teams. Both teams 
prepared ancillary information and FAQs for residents following the responses 
received. A further letter was sent to residents inviting comments until 18 April 
on the proposed construction compound. Independently, FFC might have 
hosted drop-in sessions to also inform the public about the construction 
compound. The Council has already consulted with the friends of Bishop’s Park 
and the Church Commissioners.

Page 8



5

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

7.1. It is not anticipated that granting the Lease for a temporary period would have 
a direct negative impact on any groups with protected characteristics, under 
the terms of the Equality Act 2010. 

Implications verified by Fawad Bhatti, Social Inclusion Policy Manager, tel. 
07500 103617
 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
8.1 Under the Local Government Act 1972 section 1, local authorities have powers 

to dispose of property in any manner they wish, except with the consent of the 
Secretary of state, a Council shall not dispose of land under this section, 
otherwise than by way of a short tenancy, for a consideration less than the best 
that can be reasonably be obtained.

8.2 The Council may not dispose under section 1 of any land forming part of an 
open space unless before disposing of the land they give notice of their 
intention to do so, specifying the land in question, to be advertised in two 
consecutive weeks in a newspaper circulating in the area in which the land is 
situated, and consider any objections to the proposed disposal which may be 
made to them. 

8.3 Bishops park was conveyed to the Vestry of Fulham (the Council’s predecessor 
in title) by the Church Commissioners for England by a conveyance dated 
14/069/1900, pursuant to the Open Spaces Act 1877-1890.  This established a 
statutory trust to maintain the open space for public exercise and recreation in 
perpetuity.  At the same time certain restrictive covenants were taken, which 
requires the Church Commissioners’ release on any disposal of the park land.

8.4 The Recommendations set out in this report confirms that the Council have 
complied with the requirements in this section 8. 

 
Implications completed by: Rachel Silverstone, Senior Solicitor 0208 753 2210

9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1. The Council will receive £164,000 per annum as the principal rent from the 
date of lease completion. In addition, additional rent of £69,000 may also 
occur as outlined. This income has not been forecast or included in any 
Council revenue budgets for Parks (Environment department) or any 
corporate budgets. Corporate Finance colleagues will need to work with 
Environmental department to understand where this unbudgeted income will 
sit.

9.2. At a future date, if the concourse extension does occur, oversailing a small 
part of the construction compound, the Council will also receive income, as 
outlined in section 4 of this report, at £55,000 per annum from the date of 
notification of the concourse’s construction. A rent increment of £14,000 p.a. 

Page 9



6

would similarly be payable for a spectators’ first aid room.  The additional 
income (up to £69,000 p.a.) will need to be treated the same as the main core 
compound rent of £164,000 per annum.

9.3. The Council will also receive a payment of £150,000 on lease completion for 
works/ improvements in Bishop’s Park to be managed by H&F. 

9.4. The Council seeks to ensure the park is reinstated to an agreed standard as a 
condition of the lease but as a safeguard and a security deposit has been 
agreed to reduce the risk of default by FFC.

9.5. The Council’s legal fees and surveyor’s fee for this transaction are being 
recouped from FFC.

Implications completed by: Gary Hannaway, Head of Finance, The 
Environment 0208 753 6061. 

Implications verified by Emily Hill, Assistant Director, Corporate Finance, 0208 
753 3145

10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS

If the Council does not grant FFC the Lease, parts of the local economy would 
be badly affected if the club must find another stadium to play its home fixtures 
during redevelopment of the Riverside Stand. Economic Development have 
been heavily involved in negotiating Local Procurement asks in the S106 
Agreement. The appointed Tier 1 contractor has engaged with our supply chain 
initiative and local businesses will benefit from the development of Craven 
Cottage.      

Implications completed by: Billy Seago, Work Matters Manager, tel. 020 8753 
5242 

11. COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS

11.1. There are no direct procurement implications resulting from this report as it 
refers to land deals which are excluded from the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015. Any procurement exercises that may result from the proposal shall follow 
the PCR2015 and the Council’s CSOs.

Commercial Implications verified/completed by: Andra Ulianov, Head of 
Contracts and Procurement, 07776672876.

12. IT IMPLICATIONS 

12.1. No IT implications are considered to arise from this report as it requests 
authority to grant a temporary lease of land at Bishop’s Park to FCC for its 
redevelopments at Craven Cottage. Should this not be the case, for example, 

Page 10



7

by requiring new systems to be procured or existing systems to be modified, 
IT Services should be consulted.

12.2. IM implications: A Privacy Impact Assessment(s) should be carried out to 
ensure that all the potential data protection risks (e.g. in consulting with the 
Friends of Bishop’s Park and the Church Commissioners) around the 
proposed FCC lease extension are properly assessed with mitigating actions 
agreed and implemented. A PIA has therefore been submitted to Information 
Management for review and feedback.  

12.3. Any contracts arising from this report will need to include H&F’s data protection 
and processing schedule. This is compliant with the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) enacted from 25 May 2018. 
Implications verified/completed by: Tina Akpogheneta, Interim Head of Strategy 
and Strategic Relationship Manager, IT Services, tel 0208 753 5748.

13. RISK MANAGEMENT

13.1 A summary of the high-level risks are set out below: 

Risk Mitigation
Failure to put right damage 
caused to public space by 
FFC use of land

Contractual obligation and retention of a 
security deposit. The Council has secured a 
security deposit on completion of the lease. 
In addition, a scheme of preparation as well 
as a scheme of reinstatement has been 
agreed with FFC. 

In the event of a major 
incident residual liability 
transferring to LBHF once 
FFC insurance depleted.

Insurance requirement to be amended to 
request £30M limit of indemnity – Should 
FFC be able to demonstrate they do not 
currently hold cover at this level then 
consideration of a lower limit can be agreed 
by the Head of Insurance

Slips, trips and falls on leased 
land including new pathway

Clarification suggested in the lease 
regarding inspection, maintenance and 
repair. A risk assessment will be undertaken 
once the compound is established

Preliminary Implications completed by David Hughes, Director of Audit, Fraud, 
Risk and Insurance. 

14. OTHER IMPLICATIONS PARAGRAPHS

Timetable

14.1. A timetable is provided as a guide below: 

Action Target date

Page 11



8

Commercial Revenue Committee to 
approve  grant of Lease to FFC

May 2019

Completion of the Lease for its 
commencement on 31 May 2019

End of May  2019 

15. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT

No. Description of
Background Papers

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy

Department/
Location

N/A N/A N/A N/A

LIST OF APPENDICES:

Exempt Appendix 1 – Lease

Exempt Appendix 2 – Deed   

Appendix 3 – Plan of the compound site. 

Page 12



Document is Restricted

Page 13

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 23

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



P
age 53


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 1 APRIL 2019
	5 COMMERCIAL REVENUE INCOME - GRANT OF SHORT TERM LEASE TO FULHAM STADIUM LTD FOR TEMPORARY CONTRACTORS' COMPOUND ON BISHOP'S PARK SW6
	Deed of Covenant (clean copy 21.5.2019)
	FFC Lease -( clean copy of 21.5.2019)
	Appendix 2- revised site compound drawing from FFC on 20.3.19, ref. C18050-BGC-TW-DR-0003 P07


